

# Guide

# Mentoring and tutoring

Information and support for forensic science organisations which provide mentoring for their apprentices, placement students, and new and existing staff. Inside we give guidance on what support to offer and how to implement it.





# **Guide for Mentoring and Tutoring**

#### **Handling Instructions**

The intended audience for this document is FCN employees and/or UK Policing but is limited to those with a business need and the appropriate security clearance.

This document should not be distributed outside of the intended audience without the permission of the FCN Quality Team or FCN SLT. Paper versions should be avoided where possible, however if printing is unavoidable, the document should be kept secure and appropriately disposed of immediately after use.

If this document has a classification of **Official Sensitive** under the FCN policy, then it shall only be transmitted via secure/CJSM email only.

#### UNCONTROLLED WHEN PRINTED OR ELECTRONICALLY SHARED OUTSIDE THE FCN

If you believe that you have been received this document in error, do not read, copy, or disseminate and contact <u>FCNQualityTeam@dorset.pnn.police.uk</u>

Document Title:	Guide for Mentoring and Tutoring	Document Reference:	FCN-MGT-GUI-0033	
Version and Issue Date:	1.0 – 26/06/2023	Document Owner:	Workforce Strategy Lead	
Please always refer to the FCN Quality Management System for latest versions				
OFFICIAL				

Page 1 of 14



# **Document Control**

Document status	APPROVED
Author	Joanne Morrissey

# **Update History**

Version	Issue date	Reason for issue	Updated by	Reviewed by	Approved by
1.0	26/06/2023	New Document	Joanne Morrissey, Workforce Strategy Lead	Paula Mulroy, Workforce Strategy Lead	Jane D'Arcy, Quality Officer

Grey shaded sections will denote changes from previous version

Document Title:	Guide for Mentoring and Tutoring	Document Reference:	FCN-MGT-GUI-0033	
Version and Issue Date:	1.0 – 26/06/2023	Document Owner:	Workforce Strategy Lead	
Please always refer to the FCN Quality Management System for latest versions				
OFFICIAL				
Page <b>2</b> of <b>14</b>				



#### OFFICIAL FOIA- Open

# Table of Contents

1	(	Overview	4			
	1.1	1 Purpose	4			
	1.2	2 Acknowledgements	4			
	1.3	3 Definitions and Abbreviations	4			
2	(	Guidance	4			
	2.1	1 How can we be sure that our mentor schemes work?	5			
	2.2	2 How to encourage colleagues to become mentors?	5			
	2.3	3 How should mentors be 'chosen'?	6			
	2.4	Creating a contract between the mentor and mentee	6			
	2.5	5 What should mentoring include?	7			
	2.6	6 Mentoring for different purposes	8			
	2.7	7 How should we support our mentors?	9			
	2.8	B How do we evaluate the success of mentorship programmes?	9			
	2.9	9 What do we do if things go wrong?	9			
3		A model of mentoring1	0			
4	(	Case study1	1			
5		Mentoring for apprentices1	2			
6		Appendices1	2			
7	\$	Supporting Documentation13				

Document Title:	Guide for Mentoring and Tutoring	Document Reference:	FCN-MGT-GUI-0033	
Version and Issue Date:	1.0 - 26/06/2023	Document Owner:	Workforce Strategy Lead	
Please always refer to the FCN Quality Management System for latest versions				
OFFICIAL				
Page 3 of 14				



OFFICIAL FOIA- Open

# **1** Overview

### 1.1 Purpose

This guidance document has been created to provide information and support for organisations who are providing mentoring for apprentices, placement students, new and existing staff. It is designed to provide guidance about what support can be provided and how it can be implemented.

#### 1.2 Acknowledgements

This document has been prepared by a task and finish group as part of the FCN Workforce Strategy Education and Training workstream.

## 1.3 Definitions and Abbreviations

Abbr.	Meaning
СоР	College of Policing
CSI	Crime Scene Investigator
DFU	Digital Forensic Unit
FCN	Forensic Capability Network
SFP	Staffordshire Forensic Partnership
Shall	indicates a requirement
Should	indicates a recommendation
SMART	Specific, Measurable, Attainable, Realistic, Timely
Мау	indicates a permission
Can	indicates a possibility or a capability

# 2 Guidance

Mentoring is a relationship between two people with the objective of professional or personal development. The mentor is usually a more experienced individual who shares their skills, knowledge and experience, providing advice and guidance to a less experienced mentee.

It is important to understand the difference between a mentor and a coach. A coach is usually appointed to help an individual map out their career or work on a specific issue and may not be from an individual's area of work, whereas a mentor is usually a more skilled or experienced person in the workplace/field. Mentoring does not include formal line management or supervision.

Document Title:	Guide for Mentoring and Tutoring	Document Reference:	FCN-MGT-GUI-0033	
Version and Issue Date:	1.0 – 26/06/2023	Document Owner:	Workforce Strategy Lead	
Please always refer to the FCN Quality Management System for latest versions				
OFFICIAL				

A mentor can help:

- Career development
- Develop leadership skills
- Learn new ideas, skills and knowledge
- Improve communication skills
- Meet personal goals
- Develop a network
- Personal development
- Support learning and development

A mentoring relationship should be mutually beneficial with the mentee developing new skills, knowledge and experiences and the mentor may learn from their mentees as well as gaining personal satisfaction from seeing their mentees development.

Both the mentor and the mentee can benefit from this valuable development activity. Experiences in the initial stages for new staff, apprentices and placement students can have an influence on their wellbeing, retention and career prospects. Every mentee has different experiences, backgrounds, abilities and requirements but providing tailored support which is underpinned by the values of the organisation can be beneficial to this. A good mentoring programme will motivate, shape and influence both the mentor and the mentee being positive employees (College of Policing, 2022). Being mentored can have a positive and long-lasting impact on the mentee and so it is important that it is implemented successfully. Being a mentor enables staff to develop their leadership, communicational and interpersonal skills and can provide an opportunity to reflect upon their own skills, experience and knowledge.

#### 2.1 How can we be sure that our mentor schemes work?

To ensure that mentor schemes are successful they need to be adequately promoted within the workplace. This promotion can be in-person, online or via mentoring events but it is important that the entire workforce understand the purpose, the methods used and the benefits to them and to the organisation. This promotion should not be a one-time event and needs to be continually promoted and included within recruitment and retention programmes.

There should be clear guidance provided to all parties (including mentors, mentees and line managers) involved with the roles, responsibilities and expectations included.

#### 2.2 How to encourage colleagues to become mentors?

Some mentors may only choose to take on this role for their own benefit, such as personal development or promotion. Often those who have previous experience of acting as a mentor, value the opportunity to support the development of others or have been mentored themselves and had a positive experience will put themselves forward for the role. They did not put much emphasis on formal training and rarely worked with other mentors (Tyler and McKenzie, 2011). It is important to recognise that mentoring is not a line management role.

Mentors should:

- be well supported and
- be provided with training
- be provided with guidance documents and
- be given support from their line managers.

Document Title:	Guide for Mentoring and Tutoring	Document Reference:	FCN-MGT-GUI-0033	
Version and Issue Date:	1.0 – 26/06/2023	Document Owner:	Workforce Strategy Lead	
Please always refer to the FCN Quality Management System for latest versions				
OFFICIAL				

Page 5 of 14



- have time and resources so that they can conduct their role effectively
- understand how to deal with any difficulties that arise.

Good practice has found that mentoring has better outcomes when the staff member is motivated properly to get the good outcomes, this may be done through recognition of good work, investment in the research project of a placement mentee, and similar. Career progression could be a method through which people are motivated to mentor well, but it is not the only option available.

#### 2.3 How should mentors be 'chosen'?

Mentor selection processes vary from force to force, and may involve volunteers, appointees or selection processes. (Experience from the Police Constable Degree Apprenticeship programme indicates that those who volunteer for the roles such as tutor are generally much better at it (College of Policing, 2022)). Mentors may be selected because of competencies that they possess, their training experience, because of their personality, or because of their rank or role. These may include:

- Leadership
- Communication skills
- Empathy
- Values
- Integrity

This matching process will be dependent upon the purpose of the mentoring. If it is for pastoral support then personal interests and types of personality may be most important, however if the mentor is intended to support career development then experience and role may be more integral to the process.

The 'matching' process can use profiles of staff to match them, which can be done through the completion of a questionnaire or a discussion. One force in England does this prior to a recruit starting. A supervisor calls the new member of staff before they start and has an informal discussion about their likes and interests which enables them to assign the most appropriate mentor.

In one Forensic Services department, they do require that the mentor has effective communication skills, that they have leadership skills in line with the force values, the ability to give and receive feedback, and an understanding of their role as the mentor and what is required of the mentee. In the Staffordshire Forensic Partnership (SFP), the mentor is sometimes selected as an individual who is already invested on the placement student's success, and this has created better mentoring outcomes because the mentor is better motivated.

It would be beneficial to the organisation if they evaluate the impact of mentors in each role (with apprentices, placement students, new and existing staff) and the method of recruitment of mentor (e.g., are mentors who apply for the role more effective than those who do not choose the role?)

It is important to ensure that relationships are based on professional relationships where any balance of power is considered, and mentors should have a good knowledge of the vision, values and ethics of their organisation.

#### 2.4 Creating a contract between the mentor and mentee

In a mentoring relationship each party has a responsibility and so it is important that these expectations are established, and boundaries set as soon as possible. It is important to

Document Title:	Guide for Mentoring and Tutoring	Document Reference:	FCN-MGT-GUI-0033	
Version and Issue Date:	1.0 – 26/06/2023	Document Owner:	Workforce Strategy Lead	
Please always refer to the FCN Quality Management System for latest versions				

OFFICIAL Page 6 of 14



remember that discussions are confidential and that relationships are based on trust and honesty.

Mentors may be responsible for:

- motivating and encouraging the mentee in relation to learning and career development activities
- helping the mentee to identify learning and networking opportunities
- providing constructive feedback and act as a sounding board for ideas
- challenging the mentee to take a broad perspective
- listening to their mentee and helping them to acknowledge and work on their strengths and weaknesses
- maintaining confidentiality in their relationship with their mentee
- building self-confidence
- providing advice
- improving and developing effectiveness in their role

Mentees should:

- take responsibility for managing their own development
- communicate clearly and honestly with their mentor
- set clear, realistic objectives and initiate learning and career development activities
- be responsible for scheduling meetings and rescheduling them if needed
- be open to feedback from mentor and receptive to new ideas
- show consideration for their mentor's time
- adhere to confidentiality of mentoring partnership
- maintain the commitment to the mentoring partnership the frequency, structure and length of the partnership will be discussed and agreed with the mentor, with learning and development activities between meetings.

It is important to include an 'onboarding process.' Consider why you are providing a mentor, what is the purpose or desired outcome?

Agreement should be made between both parties in relation to how long meetings should be, how often they should occur, the purpose of the meetings, what will be discussed, if and how it will be recorded and what will happen between meetings.

Good practice feedback has shown that mentorship outcomes are better when mentors are supported through formal documentation around the expectations of mentorship and there is a method through which to assess and feedback the success of the mentorship. For example, CSIs at Sussex have a complete document of who is responsible for what in preemployment, in the initial phases of induction and in the ongoing coaching (involves management input, specific training inputs, and coaching inputs from mentors/coaches). This is reviewed in regular progress updates and has been shown to improve outcomes. Other successful examples include the work of West Yorkshire Police DFU, who recently started implementing weekly meetings with mentors, mentees, and the mentee's manager to assess progress and offer additional support.

#### 2.5 What should mentoring include?

A guidance document with clear outcomes and methods is needed. The expectations for both the mentor and the mentee should be clear. Many of the mentors and mentees in your organisation may have no experience of the process and so they should be provided with

Document Title:	Guide for Mentoring and Tutoring	Document Reference:	FCN-MGT-GUI-0033	
Version and Issue Date:	1.0 – 26/06/2023	Document Owner:	Workforce Strategy Lead	
Please always refer to the FCN Quality Management System for latest versions				

OFFICIAL Page 7 of 14 Forensic Capability Network

the resources that they need, including timescales, checklists and agreements. These documents should form a part of the onboarding process already discussed.

Mentoring can include any of these factors depending upon the purpose:

- Wellbeing
- Career development
- Timescales to achieve competencies, skills, knowledge
- Leadership
- Learning and development
- Pastoral care
- Workplace support
- Project/Research support

Feedback from forces has identified that mentoring generally focuses on the specifics of the role someone is undertaking (usually as they enter a new role or workplace to get to grips with the specifics of their role and any SOPs as part of that role). The case study (included in section 4) from West Yorkshire Police highlights the benefits of embedding wellbeing.

At the Staffordshire Forensic Partnership, mentoring for placement students has focussed on the employability skills of the mentee and an overall appreciation of the work the unit undertakes. This has had positive outcomes for the students involved in the partnership as they have moved forward in their careers. This approach may not be relevant for all roles and may be limited to its use in placements and apprenticeships. This partnership also includes wellbeing, and this contributes to good practice.

### 2.6 Mentoring for different purposes

A Police Forensic Services Department have reported using multiple mentors for different processes. This has positive and negative consequences as a mentorship tool. It means that staff can continue their personal development even when their main mentor is unavailable and that they are able to have mentoring in a wider-ranging variety of competencies. However, it means they may feel less like they have a single point of contact and there is a reduced opportunity of the mentor noticing the early signs of wellbeing issues in the role as there is not as much shared time together.

Apprentices and some placement students are not guaranteed a job at the end of the process and are likely to be at an earlier stage of their career development. Therefore, it makes more sense to include employability in mentorship of people from these groups than it does for other staff.

Mentoring is an important part of an apprenticeship programme, and the mentor will support the apprentice with the knowledge, skills and behaviours included in the apprenticeship. It is the responsibility of employers to provide ongoing support, pastoral care and mentoring for the apprentice. This support will help the apprentice as they settle into the workplace and the policing environment.

The apprentice will have support from the learning and development organisation but will also have a workplace mentor.

The workplace mentor may:

- Provide workplace support
- Provide pastoral support
- Be involved in the induction process
- Help develop the knowledge, skills and behaviours

Document Title:	Guide for Mentoring and Tutoring	Document Reference:	FCN-MGT-GUI-0033	
Version and Issue Date:	1.0 - 26/06/2023	Document Owner:	Workforce Strategy Lead	
Please always refer to the FCN Quality Management System for latest versions				

OFFICIAL Page 8 of 14



Help with networking and communication skills

All staff should have a focus on wellbeing in their mentorship. The demands of learning new skills, in a law enforcement environment when the content of the work can be distressing, means staff need to be adequately supported to learn. Learning is better when wellbeing is better, as memory and learning skills are affected by one's emotions.

Mentors need to be supported to deliver good mentorship outcomes and motivated to deliver good mentorship outcomes. The support and motivation may be different depending on which group the mentee comes from. Where a mentee is on placement and their placement is mutually beneficial, this can be used to motivate the mentor. However, recognition of some form may be necessary to motivate the mentors of apprentices, new employees, and existing staff.

#### 2.7 How should we support our mentors?

The selection of mentors needs to be more considered. The consideration should be made of the staff member's skills and willingness to be a mentor, to determine their suitability for such a role. It is important that mentors are provided with the support, training and guidance that they need to be effective mentors.

Consideration should also be given to the following factors;

- How many people can they mentor at one time?
- Should a mentor have some pressures of operational work removed during mentoring?
- Will time be set aside for mentoring?

Evidence from other sectors has demonstrated that mentoring is a worthwhile investment in relation to retention of the workforce, and the skills gained by staff who act as mentors aid them in career progression. Raising the profile of mentoring across the organisation and providing recognition to those in the role reinforces its importance.

#### 2.8 How do we evaluate the success of mentorship programmes?

It is important that we evaluate mentorship programmes. This may include analysing the opinions of those who have been involved through survey or interview. It may also include analysing the success of apprentices, placement students and employees who have been mentored in relation to their success during and after the mentoring through longitudinal study.

#### 2.9 What do we do if things go wrong?

Sometimes a relationship does not work. There may be issues with communication, the mentor and the mentee not getting on or continual cancellation of meetings. Each force should have a process in place to address this which may include:

- Assigning a new mentor
- Involving the force employee assistance programme (or similar)
- Working with line managers
- Working with any training unit/HR/Occupational health/wellbeing unit who may be appropriate.

Document Title:	Guide for Mentoring and Tutoring	Document Reference:	FCN-MGT-GUI-0033	
Version and Issue Date:	1.0 – 26/06/2023	Document Owner:	Workforce Strategy Lead	
Please always refer to the FCN Quality Management System for latest versions				
OFFICIAL				



## 3 A model of mentoring

The mentor or mentee can lead on this process depending upon the purpose of the mentoring programme. However, for new staff, apprentices or placement students it may be best if the mentor initiates the contact, at least at the start.

#### Example 1:

**Step 1:** Introduce yourself (face to face or virtually) and set up an initial meeting. A mentor should establish what they can add, and the mentee should establish what they want/or are required to achieve.

**Step 2:** At the first meeting agree expectations and boundaries. Introduce any guidance documents or resources that you will be using. Set goals within a timeline. Agree how often you will meet and what will be discussed at these meetings. The mentor should make it clear what they can offer and how they are able to assist. A mentor can reflect upon their own career and consider what would have helped them.

**Step 3:** This will depend upon the purpose of the mentoring. If it is part of a new starter probationary period or an apprenticeship then this may include a review of objectives and agreed timelines. The mentee should be able to evidence what they have achieved since the previous meeting and be able to ask for clarification or help where needed. The mentor should provide support where required and advise the mentee on any further development necessary. Assess progress and agree any new goals and discuss any obstacles.

If the mentoring is for support, then there may not be objectives to review but could be a discussion to support career development requirements. The mentee should make notes to assist with their personal reflections. If the process is more formal then these discussions should be documented and signed by both parties to endorse as an accurate summary of the conversation.

**Step 4:** It is important that feedback is included in the process. All parties should be asked to reflect on how effective the mentoring has been. Has the mentor provided the support, guidance or reassurance required, where they adequately supported throughout the process, and did they received the training and guidance that they needed to complete the process? Did the mentee engage with the process, did they feel supported throughout and were the objectives met?

This analysis is essential to ensure that the mentoring process is meeting the objectives set and that it is adapted and updated to meet changing requirements or expectations.

At all stages, the mentor and mentee should assess whether the relationship is working for them, and the organisation should have procedures in place if any party feel it is unsatisfactory or not meeting their expectations.

**Step 5:** Is there a concluding date for the mentoring? Who will decide this? The duration of the mentoring should have been part of the initial discussion. For many mentees they may move on to a new mentor as they progress in their career and in their professional lives. It is important that the mentoring process closes on a positive note. A previous mentor may often remain a person that you will turn to throughout your career as a sounding board.

#### Example 2:

**Stage 1:** Introduction and the purpose of mentoring. This is the opportunity to build a rapport, set goals, share details and set the ground rules.

Document Title:	Guide for Mentoring and Tutoring	Document Reference:	FCN-MGT-GUI-0033	
Version and Issue Date:	1.0 – 26/06/2023	Document Owner:	Workforce Strategy Lead	
Please always refer to the FCN Quality Management System for latest versions				
OFFICIAL				



**Stage 2:** Setting goals and objectives. What would the mentee like to get from the sessions? What are they hoping to achieve in their career? What methods will be used? Are goals SMART?

Stage 3: Skills, Strengths and Weaknesses. What particular areas need work?

Stage 4: Review of Progress and issues so far

**Stage 5:** Evaluation of mentoring and next steps. Have goals been met? What else needs to be done? How will the relationship continue? Have all goals been achieved and is mentoring complete? This stage should include celebrating success and considering what success will look like in the future.

#### It could include:

- Listening to what the mentee wants to achieve and what their problems and issues are
- Asking questions
- Reflection on experiences in the workplace and if on an apprenticeship on the programme
- Identifying areas for development and future needs
- Long- and short-term goals
- Support, advice and guidance
- Networking
- Access to resources
- Providing feedback
- Helping with professional development

# 4 Case study

#### West Yorkshire Police DFU Case Study

WYP DFU have implemented new guidance for training and mentoring which has considerably improved outcomes of mentorship. Concerns were raised around mentorship following a significant increase in department size, resulting in a 'watering down' of knowledge when staff were expected to mentor without the pre-requisite skills or motivation to be a mentor when they had not long been in the role themselves. As a result, a guidance document was created to implement positive change around the mentorship process. The selection of mentors was more considered, contacting staff before they start a new role and getting a sense of who they are so that they can be 'personality matched' with their mentor. In some instances, the supervisor has contacted the new member of staff and found an interesting fact about them, this has then been shared with the mentor as a talking point for the first day to build an early rapport. The building of this relationship has improved new starter's engagement with their mentor and has also allowed them to rely more on the mentor in relation to wellbeing which has in turn also improved mentorship outcomes.

Consideration has now been made of mentors' workloads to ensure that they are not assessed on their own work process during the initial mentoring phase, this is to ensure they do not feel the pressure of their own workload and can focus on the needs of the mentee. Supervisors are ensuring minimal abstractions of the mentor during the initial mentorship phase so that they have the time available to mentor effectively. This has also been found to create an improvement in the overall quality of mentorship.

Document Title:	Guide for Mentoring and Tutoring	Document Reference:	FCN-MGT-GUI-0033		
Version and Issue Date:1.0 – 26/06/2023Document Owner:Workforce Strategy Lead		Workforce Strategy Lead			
Please always refer to the FCN Quality Management System for latest versions					
OFFICIAL					

Page 11 of 14

Mentors and mentees have been provided with formal training materials to work with to improve consistency in the mentorship process and ensure that all staff are trained to the same standard with the same knowledge imparted. This has improved training outcomes considerably. The success of mentorship has been assessed based on staff's competence in their new role/processes and how quickly they are able to work in the role.

Further consideration is to be made of assessing ongoing progress and support.

# 5 Mentoring for apprentices

Mentoring is an important part of the planning and delivery of apprenticeships. Having a mentor provides the apprentice with the support they need to understand their role and to acclimatise to their new workplace.

The mentor should ideally not be the line manager. Their role is to share experiences, share skills, knowledges and ideas, and to support the mentee. The mentee will benefit from the insights of their mentor and having a number of mentors can increase this. The on-the-job learning that the apprentice experiences with their mentor will help support their off-the-job training and provide a scaffold as they approach the end point assessment.

It is important that the mentor appointed has the skills to be able to develop the apprentice, providing constructive feedback, breaking down tasks into manageable parts so that the mentee can learn, and providing the opportunity for discussion and reflection.

# 6 Appendices

Sensitivity	<ul> <li>good listener</li> <li>maintains confidentiality</li> <li>ability to build rapport and trust with the tutee</li> </ul>
Understanding	<ul><li>patient and empathetic</li><li>honest approach</li></ul>
Coaching/ mentoring skills	<ul> <li>understands the difference between the two</li> <li>skills and when to use them</li> <li>encourages the student to develop their own</li> <li>abilities</li> <li>encourages reflection and provides effective</li> <li>learning opportunities</li> </ul>
Communication	<ul> <li>able to ask open questions</li> <li>able to explain in multiple ways</li> <li>able to give constructive verbal and written</li> <li>feedback</li> <li>active listener</li> </ul>
Appreciation	knowledge of deadlines and quantity of work –
tle: Guide f	or Mentoring and Tutoring Document Reference: FCN-MGT-GUI-0033

Table 1: Attributes of a mentor, student officer support guidance (College of Policing,2022)

 Document Title:
 Guide for Mentoring and Tutoring
 Document Reference:
 FCN-MGT-GUI-0033

 Version and Issue Date:
 1.0 – 26/06/2023
 Document Owner:
 Workforce Strategy Lead

Please always refer to the FCN Quality Management System for latest versions

OFFICIAL

Page 12 of 14



of the student officer's position	<ul> <li>an outline of which should be included in tutor</li> <li>learning programme or briefing</li> <li>knows personal commitments of student officer</li> <li>non-judgmental of student officer's position</li> <li>takes time to understand cultural differences/personal circumstances</li> </ul>
Relevant Operational competency	<ul> <li>able to demonstrate and recognise skills and</li> <li>knowledge according to the requirements of</li> <li>the role</li> <li>offers good advice and motivates the student officer</li> </ul>
Be a role model	<ul> <li>maintains professional manner in all aspects,</li> <li>in line with the competency and values</li> <li>framework, Code of Ethics, standards of</li> <li>professional behaviour</li> </ul>
A progressive attitude	<ul> <li>towards the learning programme undertaken</li> <li>by the student officer</li> <li>linking the learning outcomes to the initial</li> <li>entry routes</li> <li>an understanding of the programme of</li> <li>learning, including the learning outcomes</li> </ul>
A willingness to challenge	<ul> <li>the norm, including their own behaviour and</li> <li>approach to the job, to balance their experience</li> <li>with the potential of different approaches</li> </ul>

# 7 Supporting Documentation

Carson, D. (2009). Mentoring for women in policing in the UK. International Journal of Evidence Based Coaching and Mentoring Special Issue No.3, November 2009

Garvey, B., Stokes, P. and Megginson, D. (2015), "Coaching and Mentoring Theory and Practice 2nd ed.", *Human Resource Management International Digest*, Vol. 23 No. 1. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/HRMID.04423aaa.002</u>

Hay, J. (1995). Transformational Mentoring, McGraw Hill, England

Lavender, L. and Todak, N. (2022) 'Exploring the value of mentorship for women police officers', *Policing : an international journal of police strategies & management*, 45(6), pp. 1064–1081. Available at: <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/PIJPSM-06-2022-0082</u>.



Megginson, D., & Clutterbuck, D. (2009). Further Techniques for Coaching and Mentoring (1st ed.). Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/9780080949420

Parsloe, E. <u>Coaching and mentoring.</u> 2nd ed. London ; Philadelphia : Kogan Page, 2009 ; ISBN: <u>9780749443658</u> ; ISBN: <u>0749443650</u>

Parsloe, E. (1992) *Coaching, mentoring and assessing : a practical guide to developing competence*. London: Kogan Page.

Parsloe, E., & Leedham, M. (2009). Coaching and Mentoring: Practical Conversations to Improve Learning (2nd ed.). Sonipat: Replika Press.

Roberts, A., Storm, M. and Flynn, S. (2019) 'Workplace mentoring of degree apprentices: developing principles for practice', *Higher education, skills and work-based learning*, 9(2), pp. 211–224. Available at: <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/HESWBL-10-2018-0108</u>.

Swann, A. (2008). Coaching & Mentoring at Work: Developing Effective Practice Mary Connor & Julia Pokora. Open University Press. 2007. ISBN 9780335221769. *The British Journal of Psychiatry, 193*(3), 261-261. doi:10.1192/bjp.bp.107.039487

Tyler, M.A. and McKenzie, W.E. (2011) 'Mentoring first year police constables: police mentors' perspectives', *The journal of workplace learning*, 23(8), pp. 518–530. Available at: <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/13665621111174870</u>.

Vassallo, A., Walker, K., Georgousakis, M. and Joshi, R. (2021) 'Do mentoring programmes influence women's careers in the health and medical research sector? A mixed-methods evaluation of Australia's Franklin Women Mentoring Programme,' *BMJ open*, 11(10), pp. e052560–e052560. Available at: <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2021-052560</u>.

The mentor and mentee guide - GCS (civilservice.gov.uk)

#### **Documents held in the Police National Library**

Student officer: force support guidance Quick reference guide for coaches, mentors, tutors and assessors. College of Policing 2022

https://www.college.police.uk/support-forces/health-safety-welfare/wellbeing

Leadership Learning (college.police.uk)

Page 14 of 14